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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

RICARDO NEGRON
Plaintiff,

V. : Case No. 3:1cv1042SRU)
CORRECTION OFFICER MATTHEWS

Defendant.

RULING ON PENDING MOTIONS

The plaintiff, Ricardo Negro(fNegron”), is incarceratect theMacDougaltWalker
Correctional Institutior{*MacDougallWalker”). He initiated thisaction byfiling acomplaint
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983ainstCorrectional Officer MatthewsOn October 16, 2017, pursuant
to my review of the complaint under 28 U.S.C. § 19154ismissed the claim for monetary
damages and declaratory rekégfainst the defendant in his official capacity and disedthe
claim undetthe Prison Rape Elimination Act (“PREA&painst the defendant in his individual
capacity. Seelnitial Review Order (“IRO”), ECF No. 7, at 5. | concluded that the Eighth
Amendment claims for sexual harassment and deliberate indifference to salédypvwoceed
againsthe defendant in his individual capacitgee id.

On July 19, 2018, | granted Negron leave to file an amended contplaiddnew
defendants. On August 2, 2018, Negron filed an amended complaint naming Warden Mulligan,
Deputy Warden Jesus Guadarrama and Correctional Officer Sean Matthews as defSagant
Am. Compl., ECF No. 19. Pending before the court is a motion to dismiss the amended
complaint filed byOfficer Matthewsand amotion for appointment of coundded by Negron

For the reasons set forth below, the motion for appointment of caankelied, the motion to
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dismissis granted and the claims in the amended complaint that are assgatest Deputy
Warden Guadarrama and Warddualligan are dismissed.
l. Motion for Appointment of Counsel [ECF No. 21]

Negron seeks the appointmentpod bonocounsel.In the motion, Negron describes his
claims as a denial of needed medical treatmekg.indicated above, howevéehjs casenvolves
a claim that a correctional officer sexually harassed Negiarsupport of the motion, Negron
states that he has “mental health” and cannot afford to hire an attorney.

Civil litigants do not have a constitutional right to the appointment ohsel. See
Hodge v. Police Officers8802 F.2d 58, 60 (2d Cir. 1986) (district judges are afforded “broad
discretion” in determining whether to appopmd bonocounsel for an indigent litigant in a civil
case); 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e)(1) (“The camayrequest an attorney to represent any person unable
to afford counsel.”) (emphasis added). In additibe,$econd Circuit has repeatedly cautioned
the district courts against routinely appointprg bonocounsel.See, e.gHendricks v.

Coughlin 114 F.3d 390, 393 (2d Cir. 19900poper v. A. Sargenti C877 F.2d 170, 174 (2d
Cir. 1989).

In considering whether to appoimto bonocounsel for an indigent litigant, a district
court must “determine whether the indigent’s position seems likely to be casobstSee
Hodge 802 F.2d at 61. “[E]even where the indigent [litigant’s] claim is not frivolous, counsel is
often unwarranted where the [litigant’s] chances of success are extremmely Gbhoper 877
F.2d at 171see also Carmona v. United States Bureau of Pristi3F.3d 629, 632 (2d Cir.
2001) (denying counsel on appeal where petitioner's appeal was not frivolous but tesgerthe

appeared to have little merit).



Although| havedetermined that the allegations in the complaint are not éixsl
cannotconclude at this time thategronis likely to succeed on the meritstbe claims asserted
in the complaint or the amended complaint. Addition&lggronhas madeénsufficient efforts
to secure legal assistance or representatidnsoown. See Hodge802 F.2d at 61 (indigent
litigant must demonstrate that he or she is unable to obtain counsel or legahessist
independently before a district court will appgand bonocounsel).

In September 2017, Negron contackdtbrney Michael PeckYale’'s Legal Services
Organizationand the American Civil Liberties Union. He states tietlid not receive a
response to his letter from the American Civil Liberties Union. It is uncleathehyale Legal
Servicer Attorney Peck responded to Negron'’s letters or telephone calls. Although the
Inmates Legal Aid Program (“ILAP’)nay not be able to represent Negron, the program
attorneysmay beavailable toassist him in litigating the case concludehatNegronhasnot
made sufficient recent attempts to secure representation or assistance indgpeNdehas he
demonstrated that the Inmates’ Legal Aid Program is unavailable or unwillasgigt him.
Accordingly, the motion for appointment of counsel is denied.

Il. Motion to Dismiss [ECF No. 20]

Officer Matthews raises one argument in support of his motion to dismissonkéands
that the allegations in the amended complaint regarding the isolated incident ingetira
verbal harassment by hido not state a claim der the Eighth Amendment because the alleged
conduct isnot sufficiently severe or repetitive.

A. Standard of Review

When ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, the court “accepts as true all of the



factual allegations set out in [the] complairmawi[s] inferences from those allegations in the
light most favorable to the plaintiff, and construes the complaint liberaRpth v. Jennings
489 F.3d 499, 510 (2d Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). In addition to
the facts seforth in the complaint, the court may also consider documents either attached to t
complaint or incorporated into it by reference, “and matters subject to judatiaé.” New York
Pet Welfare Ass’n, Inc. v. City of New Y,#KO F.3d 79, 86 (citation omitteaert. denied
U.S. _,138S.Ct. 131 (2017).

To withstand anotionto dismissunder Rule 12(b)(6), “a complaint must contain
sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is |ganrsits
face.” Ashcoft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBgll Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb]y650
U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “A claim has facial plausibility when ... plaintiff pleads factuadrdont
that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant[sqipéeepr the
misconduct allegedfd. The plausibility standard is not the equivalent of a probability standard
but requires something more than the assertion of allegations suggesting tipess#idty that
the defendant engaged in unlawful condu#ee id. Legal conclusions art]hreadbare recitals
of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statementsytliceiotos
state a plausible claim for relieAshcroft 556 U.S. at 678 (citinfwombly 550 U.S. at 555).

“Where ... the complaint was filgaro se it must be construed liberally with ‘special
solicitude’ and interpreted to raise the strongest claims that it sugdéstmh v. Fischer738
F.3d 509, 515 (2d Cir. 2013) (quotihtijl v. Curcione 657 F.3d 116, 122 (2d Cir. 2011)).
Nevertheless, pro seplaintiff's complaint still must state a plausible claim for relitf.

(citations omitted).



B. Facts

The amended complaint includes the following facts. On February 28, 2017, prison
officials placed Negron on suicide watch and confined him in a cell in the restrictive housing unit
at MacDougaHWalker. Am. Compl. I 1. At some point between 1:00 p.m. and 3:00 p.m.,
Officer Matthews opened the trap in Negron’s cell door, placed a piece ofipaipertrap and
madesexual comments towards Negrdd. I 2. Negron became upset and swore at Officer
Matthews. Id. § 3. In response, Officer Matthews reached his hand into theldre§p4.

Negron backed up and yelled out for Control Officer Brisich. Control Officer Brisco notified
Lieutenant Beebeld.

When Lieutenant Beebe came to Negron’s cell, Negron stated that he wanied to fi
charges against Officer Matthews, including a complaint under the PREAaaded
Lieutenant Beebe a completed inmate request form and a grievancelthrfif. 45 & at 13-15.
Negron states that the Department of Correction refused to process eitherdiof] 5.

Lieutenant Beebe interviewed Negron and completed a PREA chedt#tliat.8. Later
that evening, a mental health social worker spoke with Negron regarding the incident wit
Officer Matthews.Id. I 6 & at 16. During a visit with a medical staff member, Negron
complained of having chest pains on and &df. The medical staff member notedtiNegron
was not experiencing chest pains during the visitat 16.

On March 2, 2017, Negron met with a Connecticut State Police Offidef.7. During
the interview, Negron gave a statement regarding the incident with Qi¥fetéinews. Id.

Negron wrote to Warden Mulligan and the unit counselors seeking “all the pakerwor

concerning the incident” with Officer Matthewtd. 8. On May 2, 2017, Negron received “an



intimidating letter from Deputy Warden Jesus Guadarrama” regatfutengdissition of his
PREA complaint against Officer Matthews for sexual harassnénf. 8 & at 21. Deputy
Warden Guadarrama indicated that facility reviewers had determined that hisailegainst
Officer Matthews was unfounded based on a lack of evidence and an incident lekpair21.
Deputy Warden Guadarrama noted that this was the second allegation of sexsaidmaras
misconduct asserted by Negron that had been deemed unfounded and warned Negron that if he
continued to make unfounded allegations of sexual harassment, he might face a disciplina
report for falsely reporting an incidend.

C. Discussion

Officer Matthews argues thdte allegation that he sexually harasskegron by making
inappropriate, sexually indicative comments through the trap in Negron’s cefiailsdo state
an Eighth Amendment claim of cruel and unusual punishment. Pursuant to Local Ryle 12(a
Officer Matthews filedwith the courtand serve@n Negroma Notice to SelRepresented
Litigant Concerning Motion to Bmisstogethemwith the motion to dismiss and memorandum in
support of the motion to dismis&eeNotice, ECF No. 2@. The Notice explains the
responsibilities of litigant when a motion to dismiss is filed and that the litigant muat file
memorandum in opposition to a motion to dismiss. Despite this notice, Negron has not filed a
response to the motion to dismiss.

“The Eighth Amendment sets constitutional boundaries on the conditions of
imprisonment. Boddie v. Schniedef05 F.3d 857, 861 (2d Cir. 1997). The Supreme Court has
held that although the Constitution does not require “comfortable” prison conditionsgttie Ei

Amendment imposes certain duties on prison officials, to provide for inmates’ basioc huma



needs including: “adequate food, clioip, shelter, [] medical care, and . . . safdtgarmer v.
Brennan 511 U.S. 825, 832-33 (1994) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). To state
a deliberate indifference to health or safety claim or a conditibosnfinementlaim under the
Eighth Amendment, an inmate must demonstrate both an objective and a subjectiné eleme

To meet the objective element, an inmate must allege that he was incarcerated under
conditions that resulted in a “sufficiently serious” deprivation, such as thal @ a “life[]
necessity[y]” or a “substantial risk of serious harrid” at 834 (internal quotation marks and
citations omitted). To meet the subjective element, an inmate must allege that thendefenda
prison officials possessed culpable intentt thathe officials knew that he faced a substantial
risk to his health or safety and disregarded that risk by failing to take tegraction. See idat
834, 837. Thus, an allegation of “mere negligen[t]” conduct is insufficielhaat 835. Rather,
the subjective element requires that a plaintiff allege that prison officials actethwitbntal
state equivalent to subjective recklessness, as the term is used in crimin&ldauddinv.
Goord, 467 F.3d 263, 280 (2d Cir. 2006).

It is well-setted that verbal harassment and threats do not rise to the level of a
constitutional violation.See Cole v. FischeB79 F. App’x 40, 43 (2d Cir. 2010) (“Verbal
harassment, standing alone, does not amount to a constitutional deprivaiancy; v.
Moritsugu, 222 F.3d 99, 109 (2d Cir. 2000) (noting that “rudeness and nahireg does not rise
to the level of a constitutional violationurcell v. Coughlin790 F.2d 263, 265 (2d Cir. 1986)
(Verbal harassment and name calling, absent physical injurypacemstitutional violations

cognizable under § 1983.Verbal harassment alone does not meet the objective component of



an Eighth Amendment conditions claim because it does not deprive an inmate of a basic human
need.

With regard to harassment by a emtional officer of an inmate that is sexual in nature,
the Second Circuit acknowledgedBoddiethat physical “sexual abuse” of a prisoner by a
correctional office“may constitute serious harm inflicted by an officer with a sufficiently
culpable state ahind” in violation of a prisoner'&ighth Amendmentight to be free from cruel
and unusual punishment. 105 F&8®&61. Thus, an Eighth Amendment claim of sexual abuse
by a prison officer or official may be stated by meeting both a subjectivarasigective
element.Id. With regard to the objective element:

Sexual abuse may violate contemporary standards of decency and can cause

severe physical and psychological harm. For this reason, there can be no doubt

that severe or repetitive sexual abuse of an inmate by a prison official can be

objectively, sufficiently serious enough to constitute an Eighth Amendment

violation. . . .Moreover, like the rape of an inmate by another inmate, sexual

abuse of a prisoner by a corrections officer has no legitimate penolpgrpaise,

and is simply not part of the penalty that criminal offenders pay for thesafée

against society.
Id. (internal quotation marks amitations omitted).To meet the subjective element, an inmate
must allege facts to stwothat the prison officer asfficial acted with a *sufficiently culpable
state of mind.”Crawford v. Cuomp796 F.3d 252, 256 (2d Cir. 2015) (quotidgdson v.
McMillian, 503 U.S. 1, 8 (1992)). “Where no legitimate law enforcement or penological purpos
can be inferred from the defendant’s alleged conduct, the abuse itself maygin som
circumstances, be sufficient evidence of a culpable state of mBwttlie,105 F.3cat 861
(citing Hudson 503 U.S. at 6-7).

In addressing the objective elem@nBoddie the Second Circuit concluded that the

isolated incidents during “which [the plaintiff] was verbally harassed, touched, essegdr

8



against without his consent” were “despicable and, if true . . . m[ight] potemtgathe basis of
state tort actions . . they d[id] not involve a harm of [Eighth Amendment] . . . proportiofrs.”
reaching its decision, the Second Circuit emphasized that “no single inciderribdd<dy the
plaintiff “was severe enough to be objectively sufficiently serious.and][the incidents were
[not] cumulatively egregious in the harm they inflictedd:

In Crawford the Second Circuit revisited and clarified its holdin@oddie The Court
observed that district courts were construing the stand@dddietoo narrowly anaxplained
that the application of thBoddierule must involve “look[ing] beyond historical conceptions to
the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing”smuietgflect the
fact that the “sexual abuse of prisoners, once passively accepted by societyptiengdy
today’s standards of decencyd: at 254, 259. “Accordingly, conduct that might not have been
seen to rise to the severity of an Eighth Amendment violation 18 years agmmayolate
community standards of decency, and for that reason, ... the officer's conBoddiewould
flunk its own test today.’ld. at 260. The Gurt held that “a corrections officer’s intentional
contact with an inmate’s genitalia or other intimate area, which serves nogealgbairpose
and is undertaken with the intent to gratify the officer’s desire or to humiliaierimate, violates
the Eighth Amendment.ld. at 257. Thus, one isolated incident of sexual abuse that was
“sufficiently severe or serious” could constituttnduct that was sufficiently serious or harmful
enough to offend contemporary standards of decency and to meet the objective prong of the
Eighth Amendment standardi.

Officer Matthews argues that the allegations in the amended complaint conlgeam o

isolated incident in which he allegedly made sexually suggestive comméiegiton through



the trap in Negron’s cell door and placed a piece of paper and his hand in the trap in the cel
door. Officer Matthews contends that $skeallegations are not sufficiently severe to constitute a
sexual harassment that is actionable undeolijective prong of the Eighth Amendment.

| note that the complaint included the same allegations of verbal harassmerib@vol
sexually suggestive comments bifiCer Matthews as are included in the amended complaint.
SeeCompl., ECF No. 1, 88 2-3. The complaint also included an allegation that Officer
Matthews attempted to grab Negron’s genit&se id8 6. Furthermore, Negron alleged that
the incident involving sexual harassment by Officer Matthews had caused luise sléep and
to seek constant treatment from a mental health provisies.id§ 9. After reviewing the
complaint | concluded that the allegations that Matthews had sexually harassed Negadly ver
and had attempted to harass Negron physically constituted sufficientlyoegregnduct to state
a plausible Eighth Amendment claim for sexual harassment and deliberditereémdié to safety.
SeelRO, ECF No. 7at 45 (citing Willey v. Kirkpatrick 801 F.3d 51, 70 (2d Cir. 2015) and
Smith v. Robersg®:15CV-930(DNH/TWD), 2016 WL 1056588, at *2-3 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 16,
2016).

Although the amended complaint includes the same allegations reg@fticey
Matthewsverbal harassment of Nemn using sexually suggestive statements, Negron does not
allege that Officer Matthews attempted to grab his genitals. Instead, Nalgges that after
placing a piece of paper in the trap in the door of his cell, Officer Matthewssplamd in the
trap. Am. Compl. 11 2, 4Thus, there is no allegation of an attempt by Officer Matthews to
physically touch or grope Negron. In addition, Negron does not allege that denincaused

him to seek mental health treatment or otherwise affddtad The matal health records
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attached as an exhibit to the amended complaint reflect that Negron met witha stinial

worker named William Gilliand at 7:15 p.m. on the date of the incident to discuss Negron’s
claim of sexual harassmenSee idat 16. Negion reported no mental health concerns that were
connected or associated with the statements made by Officer Matthews earlieyttSee id.
Later that evening, Gilliand cleared Negron to return to either the restictivgng unit or to
general poplation. See idat 17.

Negron has not alleged that Officer Negron grabbed for or touched him thheutyap
from outside his cell. Nor does Negron allege that Officer Matthews exposgeiitials to him
or threatened to assault him sexually. Thus, the allegations in the amendedrdatiffdain
severity from the allegations Roberson2016 WL 1056588, at *3, in which a female detainee
asserted that a male prison guard chased her, exposed his genitals to her anedhe@at
sexually assault heiSee idat *3.

In Willey, the Second Circuit noted that the verbal sexual harassment endured by the
plaintiff caused him to suffer “psychological pain” and to attempt to cosumstdeand directed
the district court on remand to consider whether the nature and degreseoinjades might
“constitute an ‘appreciable injury’ that makes actionable the various forfusrbfl]
harassment Willey allegedly sufferedwilley, 801 F.3d at 70. The Second Circuit also
instructed the district court tovaluate the claims of verbal sexual harassment under the standard
set forth inCrawford which had been decided after the district’'s dismissal of Walelaim. Id.

The amended complaint filed by Negron includes no allegations of emotional or
psychological harm or pain. As part of the PREA protocol, a clinical social wevkérated

Negron, who indicated that Negron reported no mental health issues stemming frocidée in
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earlier that day involving Officer Matthews ad@aredNegron for return to theestrictive
housing unit or the general population dater that eveningl concludethat the allegations
asserted by Negron in the amended complaint regaadéinggleincident during which Officer
Matthews verbally sexually harassed him @b nise to the same levef egregiousessas the
allegations asserted in the complaiSte White v. Marinel]lNo. 9:17€V-1094 (EK/ATB),
2019 WL 1090802, at *19 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 8, 2019) (denying plaintiff's motion to reinstate claim
of verbal sexueharassmeninvolving female correctional officer’s alleged verbal “comments
[madé at[plaintiff’'s] cell’ on one occasion in arattempf] to induce him to expose his penis,”
because “[u]nlike the physical abuse allege@iawfordandBoddie [the female correctional
officer’s] alleged verbal harassment, though degrading to [p]laintiff, does not constitete se
and repetitive sexual abuse and, therefore, [was§ufficiently serious to be cruel and unusual
punishment.) (internal quotation marks aritations omitted)Brown v. Cronin No. 17CV-74-
FPG, 2019 WL 635578, at *4 (W.D.N.Y. Feb. 14, 2019) (“Here, aside from the allegations that
Serediuk’s actions and wordetally humiliated and embarrassdtaintiff and that Plaintiff
spoke with mental health professionals, Plaintiff does not allegap@neciable injurylike that
alleged inWilley. Thus, Plaintiff fails to state an actionable Eighth Amendment claim based on
Serediuk’s verbal or sexual harassment after the December 13, 2016 elevdémt if)ci

| notethat in the inmate request form and the grievance form that Negron claiangeto h
filed on February 28, 2017 regarding the incident involving verbal sexual harassnficbr
Matthews, he mentiortiat it wasthe “2" time” that he had been sexually harassdeAm.
Compl. & 15 at 14-15. Neither the identity of the individual who allegedly sexuatgsed

Negron at some point prior to February 28, 2017, nor the nature of the harassment is evident
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from the allegation nde in the inmate requestibre grievance See id.Furthermore, there are
no allegations in the body of the amended complaint regarding the nature of the ptemtioci
that Officer Matthews was involved in the incident. As such, the fact thatrttagr@ave been a
prior incident involving sexual harassmeloies not in and of itself state a claim against Officer
Matthews becauddegron has not alleged that Officer Matthews was involved in or aware of the
priorincident. Thus| do not contrue the amended complaint as asserting a claim against
Officer Matthews regarding any prior incident involving sexual harassagaimst Negron.
Although the verbal statements made by Officer Matthews on February 28, 2017, as
described in the amended complawmereoffensive and may have caused Negron to feel
humiliated, tlatincident of verbal harassment alone was not “sufficiently serious or serere”
“repugnant” to state a plausible claim of sexual harassment Gnaerford 796 F.3d at 25%r
Roberson2016 WL 1056588, at *2-3See Bell v. Tromble&lo. 9:18€V-0814L EK/DEP),
2018 WL 6000146, at *3 (N.D.N.Y. Nov. 15, 201@®) view of absence of case lavithin the
Second Circuit ‘in which a plaintiff ha[s] established an actionable [Eighmendment] claim
of sexual harassment ... without having physical contact with the allegedratmetr without,
at the very least, alleging egregious sexual conduntyiate’s claim that prison guard “mal[de]
harassing comments to [inmate] aboutdesitalia” did not constitute conduct that was so
“‘severe and repetitiVethat it rose to level of punishment or abuse that Wagsuel and
unusual’ as defined byCrawford)(quotingHolland v. City of New Yorki97 F. Supp. 3d 529,
547 (S.D.N.Y. 2016)andCrawford, 796 F.3d at 256Keaton v. PonteNo. 16 CIV. 3063
(KPF), 2017 WL 3382314, at *10 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 4, 2017) (dismissing prisoner’s Eighth

Amendment claims adexualabuse against female corrections officers where there was no
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“illicit physicalcontact between a corrections officer andremate” and the corrections officers'
alleged “verbaharassment,” encouraging timenateto use the shower, watching him shower,
and makingsexualgestures with lipsticks and tongues, “without more, [were] not actionable” as
cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment). Accordingly, the motion
to dismiss the Eighth Amendment claim of sexual abuse, as asserted agaiest\Gittbevs in
the amended complaint, ggsanted
1. Amended Complaint [ECF No.19] —Claims Against Mulligan and Guadarrama

As indicated above, the amended complaint adds two new individuals as defendants,
Deputy Warden Guadarrama and Warden Mulligan. Bedadigdenot previously review the
claims asserted agairid3eputy Warden Guadarrama and Warden Mulligan irathended
complaint filed by Negron, | do so now pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1915A.

A. Standard of Review

Under section 1915A, | must dismiss any portion of the amended complaint that is
frivolous, malicious, or fails to state a claim upon which rehiely be granted, or that seeks
monetary relief from a defendant who is immune from such relief. 28 U.S.C. § (9(BA
(2). Although detailed allegations are not required, the amended complaint must include
sufficient facts to dbrd the defendants fair notice of the claims and grounds upon which they are
based and to demonstrate a plausible right to reiefl Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544,
555-56 (2007). Conclusory allegations are not suffici&sficroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678
(2009). The plaintiff must plead “enough facts to state a claim to relief thatslpéon its
face.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 570. Nevertheless, it is weddtablished that “[pp secomplaints

‘must be construed liberally and intergrétto raise the strongest arguments that they suggest.
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Sykes v. Bank of An7.23 F.3d 399, 403 (2d Cir. 2013) (quotifgestman v. Fed. Bureau of
Prisons 470 F.3d 471, 474 (2d Cir. 20063ge alsdlracy v. Freshwater623 F.3d 90, 101-02
(2d Cir. 2010) (discussing special rules of solicitudepforselitigants).

B. Facts

The facts as alleged in the amended complaint are set forth in subsectiorctoafise
above. lassumehose fact$o be true for purposes e¥aluating thelausibiity of the
allegations in the amended complaint asserted against Warden Mallidgd»eputy Warden
Guadarrama

1. Warden Mulligan

Negron only mentions Warden Mulligan in connection with his attempt to obtain copies
of documents related to the incident involving the alleged sexual harassmenicley Off
Matthews on February 28, 2017. Negresextghat prior to his receipt of the decision
regardingthe disposition of his PREA complaint against Officer Matthews, he wrote tdaivar
Mulligan and a counselor supervisor in an attempt to obtain paperwork pertaining to the incident
involving Officer Matthews.SeeCompl. § 8. The exhibits attached to the amended complaint
reflect that on March 16, 2017, a records department official provided Negron with tas abpi
the documents that he had request&ee idat 20. On September 7, 2017, Negron received
documents from the FOIA liaison at MacDougall-Walker in response to his requastdpy of
the Incident Report from the February 28, 2017 incide®ee idat 22. Thus, | concludat
Negron has failed to state a claim that Warden Mulligan violated his constitutionédigerally
protected rights. The claim against Warden Mulligan is dismisSed28 U.S.C. 8

1915A(b)(1).
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2. Deputy Warden Guadarrama

Negron alleges that on May 2, 20hé, received letterfrom Deputy Warden
Guadarramaegarding thalisposition of the PREA complaint that he had filed on February 28,
2017 againsDfficer Matthews. A copy of the letter is attached to the amended comgthiat.

21. In that letteDeputy Warden Guadarramstatedthat facility reviewers had determined that
Negron’sallegation against Officer Matthews was unfounded based on a lack of eviddrae a
incident report.ld. Deputy Warden Guadarrama noted that this was the second allegation of
sexual harassment that had basserted by Negraand hadeendeemed unfoundedHe

warned Negron that if he continued to make unfounded allegations of sexual harassaemt, N
might face a disciplinary report for falsely reporting an incidedt.

Negronclaims that the letter was an attempt to intimidate him and to dissuade him from
filing similar PREA complaints in the futureA review of the State of Connecticut Department
of CorrectionAdministrative Directive that governs PREA complaittg,2, stateghat
“Inmates who file reports of sexual abuse and/or sexual harassment that aretddmnfatse
and unfounded after proper investigation may be subject to disciplirteoy acaccordance
with Administrative Directive 9.5, Code of Penal Discipline and/or criminalgdsaaccording to
applicable State laws.Admin. Dir. 6.1412)(A).* Thus, the information provided in the letter
from Deputy Warden to Negron on May 2, 2017 regarding the consequences of filing multiple,

unfounded claims of sexual harassment or assadtaccurate.

1 Administrative Directive 6.1Znitled Sexual Asault Prevention Policy, dated
11/20/2014, becameffectiveon July 20, 201&andmay be found online at
https://www.portal.ct.gov/DO@nder Directives and Policies.
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https://www.portal.ct.gov/DOC

Furthermoreasl! noted in the Initial Review Order addressing the allegations in the
complaint, “the PREA is intended to corgpdata and statistics concerning incidences of prison
rape and to develop and implement national standards for the detection, prevention, reduction,
and punishment of prison rapd#RO at 4 (iting PREA, 42 U.S.C. §8 30302-03, 30306-07
(formerly cited a8 15602-03, 15606-07))ThePREAIincludes no language thgitant
specific rights to inmatesSeeGonzaga University v. Do&63 U.S. 273, 279-80 (2002) (in the
absence of “an ‘unambiguous’ intent to confer individual rights,” such as a right tmstts, ¢
will not imply such a right in a federal funding provisjorThus, courts have routinely held that
there is n@orivateright of action for inmates to sue prison officials for rmmpliance with the
PREA. See Brown v. RosBblo. 3:16€V-00229 (JCH), 2018 WL 3637474, at *7 (D. Conn. July
31, 2018)“Because th®eREAdoes not create @rivateright of actionfor prisoners, Brown
cannot show that he was actually injured if Captain Cichetti prevented him fromngursui
aPREAclaim.) (collecting cases)Patterson v. PattersomNo. 1:16€V-00844 EAW, 2017 WL
1383899, at *4 (W.D.N.Y. Apr. 14, 2017[N]othing in the statute suggests that PREA
intended to establish a private cause of action for allegations of prison rape, gntbeavieto
address the issue has determined that PREA cannot support such a cause of action by
inmate.”) (internal quotation marks and citations omitt€@hao v. Ballista772 F. Supp. 2d 337,
341 n.2 (D. Mass. 2011) (collecting cases and noting that “every court to addressi¢fidas
held that the PREA does not allow a private cause of actmjnici v. EdwardsNo. 1:07-ev—
229, 2008 WL 3851294, at *3 (D. Vt. Aug. 12, 2008) (“[T]he PREA confers no private right of
action. The PREA is intended to address the problem of rape in prison, authorizes grgnt mone

and creates a commission to study the issue.”) (citation omittextprdingly, the allegation
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that theMay 2, 201 7etter from Deputy Warden Guadarramdich included a warning
regarding the consequences of filingltimle unsubstantiated PREA claims, might have
dissuaded Negron from filing a PREA complaint in the future does not state a ckim of
violation of Negron’s constitutionally or federally protected righithis claim against Deputy
Warden Guadarramia dignissed. See28 U.S.C. § 1915A(b)(1).

It is unclear whether Negron has also namegduty Warden Guadarrama because he
wasOfficer Matthew’s supervisot.iberally constring theallegations against Deputy Warden
GuadarramaNegron may be attempting assert a Eighth Ame&dment claim of deliberate
indifference tanis safety or healttbased on Deputy Wardé€uadarrama awareness of the
investigation intdhe PREA complaint filed by Negron against Officer Matth&wsexual
harassment and Deputy Warden Guadarraati@ged failure to take any action to remedy the
situation Because haveconcluded that the allegations in the amended complaint fail to state a
plausible Eighth Amendment claim against Officer Matthews, the claim of supsriregality
on the part of Deputy Wardé€buadarramdails as well. Any Eighth Amendment clairof
sexual harassment by Officer Matthews on February 28, 28%@rted against Deputy Warden
Guadarrama, as the supervisor of Officer Matthews, is dismisSed28 U.S.C. § 1915(b)(1).

As noted aboveht letter fromDeputy Warden Guadarrama makes reference to a prior
allegation by Negron of sexual harassment or abuse that was determined to be drifguhde
Department of CorrectionSeeAm. Compl. at 21. The letter contains no description of the
nature of theprior allegationof sexual harassmeat the identity of the individual or individuals
involvedin the alleged sexual harassment and does not reflect whether Deputy Warden

Guadarrama was aware of the allegation at the time it was madeas indicated above, does
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Negron include any facts regarding this prior allegation of sexual hanaissmabuse in the
second amended complaint. As such, the mere reference to a prior allegatiarabflsase or
harassment in ketter dated May, 2017 does not state a claim that Deputy Warden Guadarrama
violated Negron’s constitutional rights. Thus, | do not construe the amended conglaint a
asserting a claim againdeputy Warden Guadarrama regarding any prior grichvolving
sexual harassment against Negron.

Conclusion
It is hereby ordered that:

(1)  Officer Matthews’ Motion to Dismiss, ECF No. 20, the claims in the amended
complaintasserted against himGRANTED. Theallegationagainst Warden Mulligan
regading Negron'’s requests for copies of documents related to the incident involviogrOff
Matthews the allegation thaheMay 2, 2017letter from Deputy Warden Guadarrama might
have dissuaded Negron from filing a PREA complaint in the futuretheradlegation that
Deputy Warden Guadarransliable as a supervisor for the sexual harassment of Negron on
February 28, 201By Officer Matthews ar®ISMISSED pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1915A(b)(1).
The Motion for Appointment of CounseECF No. 21], is DENIED. The Clerk is directed to
enter judgment for the defendants and close this case.

(2) If Officer Matthews was involved in the alleged incident involving sexual
harassmendf Negron that occurreat some point before February 28, 2017 and Negron can
allegefacts to state a plausible Eighth Amendment claim of sexual abugkepermit Negron to
file amotion to reopen ani file asecond amended complaint. As indicated above, this prior

incident was mentioned in Negron’s inmate request and ggevihatare attached to the
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amended complaint as exhibitSeeAm. Compl. at 13-15Any amended complaint must

specify the nature of the harassmieynOfficer Matthewswhere and when it occurred and what
steps Negron took to make prison officials aware of the alleged sexual harasrbeputy

Warden Guadarramaas involved in or aware of thigior incident of sexual harassmedt

Officer Matthews Negron may include him as a defendant and describe how he was involved in
or became aware of the incide If Negron chooses to file a motion to reopen tarfile a

second amended complaint regarding the prior incident of sexual harassment, botlotihe mot
and amended complaint should be filed within twenty days of the date of this order.

If, however, Oficer Matthews wasiot involved in the prior incident of sexual
harassment, Negron may pursue such a claim against the individual who was involved in the
incident and Deputy Wardgauadarramao the extent that he was involved in or aware of the
incident,in a separate action.

SO ORDERED aBridgeport,Connecticut this 21st day bdarch2019.
/s STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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